No. 46657-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Lawrence Roussel,

Appellant.

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00670-2

The Honorable Judge Marilyn Haan

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY
P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of fourth-degree assault.
2. Mr. Roussel's conviction was entered in violation of his statutory right to have the jury consider applicable lesser offenses.
3. The trial judge violated Mr. Roussel's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by refusing to instruct on the included offense of fourth-degree assault.

ISSUE 1: An accused person has an unqualified statutory right to instructions on applicable lesser-included offenses. Here, the court failed to take the evidence in a light most favorable to Mr. Roussel, and refused to instruct on the inferior degree offense of simple assault. Did the court apply the wrong legal standard and violate Mr. Roussel's right under RCW 10.61.003 to instruction on an applicable lesser-included offense?

4. Mr. Roussel's convictions infringed his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
5. The trial judge violated Mr. Roussel's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to present a defense.
6. The trial court violated Mr. Roussel's right to present a defense under Wash. Const. art. I, § 22.
7. The trial court erred by excluding evidence that explained Mr. Roussel's self-defense/defense-of-others claim.
8. The trial court erred by excluding evidence that Ms. Roussel had accused her father of molestation, that she'd threatened to go public, and that she was shouting her accusations in the Faddens' front yard when Gary Fadden came out of his house and attacked her.

ISSUE 2: An accused person has a constitutional right to present a defense consisting of relevant admissible evidence. Here, the trial judge undermined Mr. Roussel's lawful use-of-force claim by excluding evidence explaining why Gary Fadden attacked his own daughter. Did the trial judge violate Mr. Roussel's right to present a defense by excluding relevant, admissible evidence?

9. The trial judge violated Mr. Roussel's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to confront adverse witnesses.
10. Mr. Roussel's convictions violated his confrontation right under art. I, § 22.
11. The trial court infringed Mr. Roussel's confrontation rights by restricting cross-examination of Gary and Laura Fadden.
12. The trial court denied Mr. Roussel the opportunity to explore the Faddens' bias against him.

ISSUE 3: An accused person has a constitutional right to cross-examine adverse witnesses. Here, the trial judge refused to allow Mr. Roussel to examine the Faddens regarding their bias against him. Did the restriction on cross-examination violate Mr. Roussel's state and federal confrontation rights?

13. Mr. Roussel's conviction was based in part on private conversations illegally intercepted by Sgt. Huffine in violation of the Privacy Act.

ISSUE 4: Police must strictly comply with the Privacy Act before intercepting private telephone communications. Here, the prosecution introduced evidence obtained by illegally intercepting a private phone conversation between Ms. Roussel and her mother. Did the use of this illegally intercepted communication violate the Privacy Act?

14. Mr. Roussel's convictions were based in part on an improper comment on his right to remain silent.

ISSUE 5: An accused person's pre-arrest silence may not be used as substantive evidence of guilt. Here, Sgt. Huffine testified that Mr. Roussel never provided him with medical records confirming that he and his wife had received treatment for the injuries inflicted by Gary Fadden. Did the introduction of this evidence amount to an improper comment on Mr. Roussel's right to remain silent?

15. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Roussel of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.
16. Prosecutorial misconduct infringed Mr. Roussel's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to remain silent.
17. The prosecutor committed misconduct by urging jurors to consider Mr. Roussel's pre-arrest silence as substantive evidence of guilt.

ISSUE 6: A prosecutor may not rely on a suspect's pre-arrest silence (including partial silence) as substantive evidence of guilt. Here, the prosecutor argued that jurors could use Mr. Roussel's failure to provide his medical records to police as evidence of his guilt. Did the prosecutor infringe Mr. Roussel's right to a fair trial and his privilege against self incrimination?

18. The prosecutor committed flagrant, ill-intentioned, prejudicial misconduct by making an improper missing witness argument.
19. The prosecutor's missing witness argument improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. Roussel.

ISSUE 7: A "missing witness" argument is only permissible if the proponent gives the opposing party enough notice to be able to explain the witness's absence. Here, the prosecutor argued the missing witness doctrine in closing without giving Mr. Roussel the opportunity to explain the witness's absence. Did prosecutorial misconduct violate Mr. Roussel's right to due process?

20. The prosecutor committed misconduct by misrepresenting the burden of proof.
21. The prosecutor committed misconduct by encouraging jurors to convict because the Faddens were more believable than the Roussels.
22. The prosecutor committed misconduct by suggesting that jurors would have to disbelieve Gary and Laura Fadden in order to acquit Mr. Roussel.

ISSUE 8: A prosecutor commits misconduct by shifting the burden of proof and undermining the presumption of innocence. Here the prosecutor argued that the jury could convict by determining which version of events was more believable, and that acquittal required them to disbelieve the state's witnesses. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct that was flagrant and ill-intentioned in violation of Mr. Roussel's right to due process?

23. Mr. Roussel was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
24. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the introduction of evidence obtained in violation of the Privacy Act.

ISSUE 9: The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an

accused person the effective assistance of counsel. In this case, defense counsel failed to object to the admission of prejudicial evidence obtained in violation of the Privacy Act. Was Mr. Roussel denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

25. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to inadmissible evidence bolstering the Faddens' credibility.

ISSUE 10: Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by failing to object to inadmissible evidence absent a valid tactical reason. Here, Mr. Roussel's attorney waived objection to evidence that bolstered the Faddens' testimony, in a case that hinged on their credibility. Was Mr. Roussel denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

26. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct.

ISSUE 11: A defense attorney should not allow her or his client to be prejudiced by prosecutorial misconduct. Here, counsel failed to object when the prosecutor improperly commented on Mr. Roussel's right to remain silent and made improper arguments that shifted the burden of proof. Did counsel's unreasonable failure to object deny Mr. Roussel his right to the effective assistance of counsel?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Rebecca Roussel accused her father Gary Fadden of molesting her. RP 23, 465-469. She had been repeating the allegation for many years. RP 23, 465-469. In 2014, her parents agreed to help her buy a mobile home to live in with her husband Larry Roussel and she agreed to not take her accusations further. RP 24, 84, 260.

Larry and Rebecca Roussel had been married about a year when they were moving into the trailer. RP 53, 188-190, 256. In late May, the couple was at their storage unit and argued. RP 192-193, 262. Mr. Roussel left the area to cool down. His wife started walking, and after some time called her mother for a ride. RP 55, 194-195, 264. Laura Fadden picked up her daughter, who asked to be driven to the trailer. RP 56, 194-196.

Mr. Roussel was at the trailer, having fallen asleep after consuming a few beers. RP 57, 197-198, 265. The couple argued, and Mrs. Fadden asked Mr. Roussel for the money she had given the couple a few days before. RP 59. Mr. Roussel threw \$172 at her, as well as his wedding ring. RP 59. The couple made up, Mrs. Fadden gave Mr. Roussel his ring back, and left. RP 59-61, 199-200, 266.

When Mrs. Fadden left, she took her daughter's phone and keys with her. RP 61. She later explained she did this so that the couple couldn't drive, and because she had been the one to pay for the phone. RP 61.

When Rebecca Roussel realized that her mother had her keys and phone, she and Mr. Roussel got into their car and drove to the Fadden's home. She went inside to get her keys and phone, and spoke to her parents. She was angry and made accusations. RP 63, 106-107, 214, 269. She asked for the title to the trailer to be signed over to her, but her parents declined. RP 107.

Gary Fadden began hitting his daughter with his walking stick. She tried to defend herself, but he landed blows on her head and body. RP 202-203, 205-208. He hit her over 20 times, swinging the stick like a bat. RP 206-208, 232-233. Mr. Roussel, who was waiting in the car, saw the attack and ran toward the house. He wrestled the stick away from his father-in-law and threw it in the yard. RP 150, 208, 211, 269-274, 290-294.

Mr. Fadden called the police, but hung up without talking to anyone.¹ RP 112-113. Police came to the house and Mrs. Roussel told

¹ The beating knocked the phone out of Rebecca Roussel's hand and it fell and cracked. RP 208-210.

them that all were fine and no assistance was needed. After maintaining the position for some time, she then claimed for the first time that Mr. Roussel assaulted her and her husband. RP 81-82, 145-146.

Mr. and Mrs. Roussel were arrested. Both told police that they were the victims of the altercation, and showed police their injuries. RP 168-177. They also completed written statements. RP 180.

The officer who responded to the call was Sgt. Huffine. RP 144. In 2008, he had arrested Mr. Roussel. RP 16. During the ride to the police station, Huffine slammed on the brakes so hard that Mr. Roussel was thrown into the partition and injured. RP 16-18. Mr. Roussel sued the county, who settled the claim with a payment of over \$7000 to Mr. Roussel. RP 16-18.

The state charged Larry Roussel with assault two with a deadly weapon and assault four. CP 1-2.

At trial, the defense sought to explain the family altercation. The source of the friction was the prior sex abuse at the hands of Mr. Fadden, but the court did not allow the information to be presented to the jury. RP 23-27, 183-187.

Laura Fadden testified that once at her home, she was out at the car with the Roussels and she reached across her daughter and grabbed Mr. Roussel's shirt. She also told the jury that Mr. Roussel pushed her and

she fell onto the ground and hit her head.² RP 63-66, 79. Gary Fadden said that he saw Mr. Roussel push his wife, armed himself with his walking stick and went outside. RP 110, 123. He testified that Mr. Roussel took the stick and tried to choke him with it. RP 110. He denied hitting his daughter at all. RP 125.

When Sergeant Huffine testified, he said that Mrs. Fadden “was attempting to minimize the situation.” RP 145. He also said he “eventually” got her to “open up” when she said the “same thing we heard here in court.” RP 146. He also said that Gary Fadden told him “about what happened, like what we heard here in court[.]” RP 148. The defense did not object to any of the testimony. RP 145-146, 148.

Huffine also described his efforts to talk to and get information from Mr. and Mrs. Roussel. He said that he called multiple times, and that he told Mr. Roussel he needed to get his side of the story and take his statement. RP 154. Huffine told the jury that Mr. Roussel told him he made a report and went to the hospital, but that Mr. Roussel did not provide him with any copies or a medical release or a written statement. RP 154-155. There was no objection to this testimony. RP 153-155.

² Rebecca Roussel told the jury that her mother must have been hit while trying to help Gary Fadden with the stick. She said that Mr. Roussel did not push Laura Fadden. RP 219.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Roussel denied that Mr. Roussel assaulted anyone. RP 211, 272-275.

During its rebuttal case, the state offered again testimony from Huffine. He said that he listened in on a phone extension to a call between Mrs. Roussel and her mother. RP 308-310. Over a defense objection,³ the officer told the jury that he heard Mrs. Fadden tell her daughter that her daughter's injuries were not from her father but from Mr. Roussel throwing her around. RP 309-310. Huffine said that in response to this, Mrs. Roussel exploded with anger and told her mother not to make such statements or that she would be brought down. RP 309-310.

The defense proposed a lesser include instruction of assault four, which the court declined to give. RP 324-335. The judge reasoned that since neither Roussel admitted that Mr. Roussel had committed an assault, there was no factual basis. RP 333-334.

During closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury that there were two versions, and they had to choose one. RP 361-362. He also said that the jury should consider that while both Roussels claimed medical care was sought, they did not provide any proof of that or bring the doctor

³ The specifics of the objection were not recorded as they occurred at a sidebar, though it appears to be based on hearsay. RP 309-311.

to testify. RP 374-375. He also told the jury to be suspicious of their assault claim since they did not call the police right away. RP 376.

Again during rebuttal, the prosecutor told the jury the case came down to who they believed. RP 412.

The jury entered a verdict of guilty as charged. CP 44-48. After sentencing, Mr. Roussel timely appealed. CP 63-76.

ARGUMENT

I. THE JUDGE VIOLATED MR. ROUSSEL’S ABSOLUTE AND UNQUALIFIED RIGHT TO HAVE THE JURY INSTRUCTED ON SIMPLE ASSAULT.

When there is “even the slightest” evidence that an accused person committed only an inferior offense, the court must instruct jurors on that offense. *State v. Parker*, 102 Wn.2d 161, 163-164, 683 P.2d 189 (1984). Here, there was more than slight evidence that Mr. Roussel committed only simple assault against Gary Fadden. Despite this, the court refused to instruct on simple assault.

The court should give the instructions even if the accused person denies committing the inferior offense or presents other defenses. *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). Here, the record contained evidence that Mr. Roussel committed only simple assault, but

the court erroneously refused to instruct on the inferior offense because Mr. Roussel claimed self-defense/defense-of-others.⁴ RP 324-334.

The court must interpret this evidence in favor of instructing on the inferior charge. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 456. Applying this standard, the jury could have found that Mr. Roussel committed only simple assault.

A. At least slight evidence showed that Mr. Roussel committed only simple assault rather than assault by strangulation.

Assault by strangulation requires proof that the accused person actually compressed the alleged victim's neck. *State v. Reed*, 168 Wn. App. 553, 575, 278 P.3d 203 (2012). Here, the jury could have believed that Mr. Roussel assaulted Fadden but did not actually compress his neck.

The investigating officer wrote in his report that Fadden had no visible marks on him. RP 161. Laura Fadden testified that Mr. Roussel had the stick over her husband's chest, not his neck. She also said "luckily, Gary is strong, because he was pushing up" and successfully resisting Mr. Roussel's efforts. RP 67-68.

Taking this evidence in a light most favorable to Mr. Roussel, the jury could have concluded that he assaulted Fadden, but did not actually

⁴ The court's refusal was thus based on an error of law, subject to review *de novo*. *City of Tacoma v. Belasco*, 114 Wn. App. 211, 214, 56 P.3d 618 (2002).

compress his neck. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 456. This amounts to simple assault.⁵ *Reed*, 168 Wn. App. at 575. The court should have granted Mr. Roussel's request for instructions on fourth-degree assault. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 456.

B. At least slight evidence showed that Mr. Roussel assaulted Gary Fadden without a deadly weapon.

To convict Mr. Roussel under the deadly-weapon alternative, the state had to prove that Mr. Roussel attacked Fadden using the walking stick in a manner readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm. CP 30. However, when interpreted in Mr. Roussel's favor, at least slight evidence showed that he assaulted Fadden without a deadly weapon.

For example, Mr. Roussel testified that he squared off with Fadden, wrestled the stick away from him, and threw it; Mrs. Roussel confirmed this. RP 211, 273. Fadden testified that Mr. Roussel attacked him without provocation and knocked him to the ground. RP 110.

From this evidence, the jury could have believed that Mr. Roussel attacked Fadden, took his stick, and threw it away. Alternatively, jurors could have believed that Mr. Roussel defended himself against an attack

⁵ It might also qualify as attempted second-degree assault; however, neither party requested instructions on that offense. CP 3-17; Plaintiff's Proposed Instructions, Supp. CP.

by Fadden, but that he was disqualified from claiming self-defense/defense-of-others after having pushed Laura Fadden. RP 65.

C. The failure to instruct on simple assault requires reversal and a new trial.

The right to an appropriate inferior-degree offense instruction is unqualified and absolute; failure to give such an instruction requires reversal. *Parker*, 102 Wn.2d at 163-164. Here, the trial court violated Mr. Roussel's absolute and unqualified right to have the jury instructed on simple assault. *Parker*, 102 Wn.2d at 163-164. His conviction must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. *Id.* at 166.

II. THE COURT INFRINGED MR. ROUSSEL'S CONFRONTATION RIGHT AND HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE.

Mr. Roussel's trial theory—self-defense/defense-of-others—required jurors to believe that Gary Fadden attacked his own daughter with a walking stick. The defense story only made sense if jurors understood that Fadden attacked Ms. Roussel because she'd accused him of molesting her, had threatened to go public, and was shouting about the accusation in his yard. RP 23-25.

The trial court refused to allow the defense to explain the conflict to the jury. Jurors were left with the impression that Fadden came outside and inexplicably began beating his own daughter for no reason.

Indeed, the prosecutor made this point repeatedly in closing:

in [the defense] version, Gary Fadden, *for no identified reason*, just comes out of the house and begins whacking his daughter with this stick...

RP 361 (emphasis added).

What [Mr. Roussel] described is [Gary Fadden] trying to kill his daughter with a stick, whacking her *completely out of nowhere, not in response to an argument or anything*. His own daughter, hitting her in the face... *It made no sense whatsoever*. Why would he do that? There's absolutely – *it's just so out of left field, what they're claiming...*

Is this man going to attack his daughter and start pounding her in the face with a stick? *That just doesn't make sense*. There's different ways things can go down, but you can be sure that's not how it went down.

RP 412-413 (emphasis added).

[T]heir explanation of why he gets the stick is no explanation. He just randomly attacks his daughter *for no reason whatsoever, unprovoked. That makes no sense*.

RP 421 (emphasis added).

By prohibiting the defense from explaining the conflict, the court violated Mr. Roussel's right to present a defense (by making his self-defense/defense-of-others claim completely unbelievable) and his confrontation right (by suppressing cross-examination that would have exposed the Faddens' bias).

A. The court excluded relevant admissible evidence fundamental to Mr. Roussel's self-defense claim.

Due process guarantees the right to present a defense. U.S. Const. Amends. XIV; art. I, § 22; *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 324,

126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006).⁶ By excluding Ms. Roussel's molestation accusation, the trial court violated Mr. Roussel's right to present a defense.

The right to present a defense includes the right to introduce relevant⁷ and admissible evidence. *State v. Lord*, 161 Wn.2d 276, 301, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007). Here, Gary Fadden's molestation of his daughter was the root of the conflict between Fadden and the Roussels. RP 23-25. Evidence of Ms. Roussel's accusation was relevant and admissible to explain Fadden's (otherwise inexplicable) attack on his own daughter and Mr. Roussel's state of mind when he used force to defend her.

Where evidence is highly probative, no government interest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 721, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) (Jones I). Any evidence supporting an accused person's theory of the case is highly probative. *Id.* Here, the excluded evidence supported Mr. Roussel's theory of the case. The trial court should have admitted the evidence.⁸ *Id.* Its refusal to do so violated Mr. Roussel's right to present a defense. *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 324.

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