NO. 46657-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

LAWRENCE ROLAND ROUSSEL, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR COWLITZ COUNTY
COWLITZ COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.14-1-00670-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND RESPONSE TO PERSONAL
RESTRAINT PETITION

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944
Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
For Cowlitz County Prosecutor's Office
OID# 91127

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney
1013 Franklin Street
PO Box 5000
Vancouver WA 98666-5000
Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

one offense; 2) the information charges an offense that is divided into degrees, and the proposed offense is an inferior degree of the charged offense; and 3) there is evidence that the defendant committed only the inferior offense.” *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (quoting *State v. Peterson*, 133 Wn.2d 885, 891, 948 P.2d 381 (1997) (quoting *State v. Foster*, 91 Wn.2d 466, 472, 589 P.2d 789 (1979))).

It may also be appropriate for a trial court to instruct the jury on a lesser included offense. A defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense if (1) each of the elements of the lesser offense are elements of the offense charged; and (2) the evidence must support an inference that the lesser crime was committed. *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). If it is possible to commit the greater offense without committing the lesser offense, then the latter is not a lesser included crime. *State v. Bishop*, 90 Wn.2d 185, 191, 580 P.2d 259 (1978) (citing *State v. Roybal*, 82 Wn.2d 577, 583, 512 P.2d 718 (1973)).

Under both the inferior degree method and the lesser included method, the trial court must be satisfied that factually, the evidence affirmatively supports that the lesser or inferior crime was committed. To satisfy the second prong of the lesser included *Workman* rule, “the evidence must affirmatively establish the defendant’s theory of the case—

it is not enough that the jury might disbelieve the evidence pointing to guilt.” *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 456, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (citing *State v. Fowler*, 114 Wn.2d 59, 67, 785 P.2d 808 (1990), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Blair*, 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991)). While the legal prong of the *Workman* rule is reviewed *de novo*, an appellate court will “review a trial court’s decision regarding the second prong of the *Workman* rule for abuse of discretion.” *State v. Henderson*, 182 Wn.2d 734, 743, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015) (citing *State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1992)).

“[I]f there is no testimony tending to prove the commission of any of the lesser crimes charged, the court is not required to submit such lesser crimes to the jury, and commits no error in its refusal so to do.” *McPhail*, 39 Wn. at 206. Of course, “[i]t would be error to give an instruction not supported by the evidence.” *State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 947 P.2d 700 (1997) (citing *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 654, 845 P.2d 289 (1993)). Moreover, to instruct the jury on a lesser included offense requires a “factual showing that is more particularized than that required for other jury instructions. Specifically ... the evidence must raise an inference that only the lesser included/inferior degree offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense.” *Id.* at 455 (citing as examples, *State v. Bowerman*, 115 Wn.2d 794, 805, 802 P.2d 116 (1990) (lesser included

offense instruction); *State v. Peterson* 133 Wn.2d 885, 889, 948 P.2d 381 (1997) (inferior offense instruction)). “[T]here must be some rational basis for the lesser charge; otherwise it is merely a device for [a] defendant to invoke the mercy-dispensing prerogative of the jury, and that is not by itself a permissible basis to require a lesser included instruction.” *State v. Condon*, 182 Wn.2d 307, 367, 343 P.3d 357 (2015) (Gonzalez, J., dissenting) (quoting *United States v. Sinclair*, 144 U.S.App.D.C. 13, 444 F.2d 888, 890 (1971)).

Here, the evidence did not support giving the lesser or inferior instructions. The evidence only supported either an acquittal or an Assault in the Second Degree and thus giving an instruction on Assault in the Fourth Degree would have been improper.

This Court reviews a trial court’s decision to give an instruction that rests on a factual determination for abuse of discretion. *State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998) (citing *State v. Lucky*, 128 Wn.2d 727, 731, 912 P.2d 483 (1996), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 544, 947 P.2d 700 (1997)). When determining whether the evidence was sufficient to support giving an instruction, this court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction, here, Boswell. *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (citing *State v. Cole*,

74 Wn. App. 571, 579, 874 P.2d 878 (1994), *overruled on other grounds by Seeley v. State*, 132 Wn.2d 776, 940 P.2d 604 (1997)). Only when a trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds will this court find it abused its discretion. *State v. Jensen*, 149 Wn. App. 393, 399, 203 P.3d 393 (2009) (citing *State v. Perrett*, 86 Wn. App. 312, 319, 936 P.2d 426, *review denied*, 133 Wn.2d 1019 (1997)).

At trial, there was no evidence that Roussel committed the lesser offense of Assault in the Fourth Degree. The only evidence presented by the State was that Roussel strangled the victim by using a walking stick as a deadly weapon. The defense claimed that the victim struck Roussel and fell and Roussel took the walking stick and threw it. No evidence was presented to support a finding that Roussel assaulted the victim, but did not strangle him or use a deadly weapon. The evidence presented at trial failed to establish the second prong required for giving a lesser included or inferior degree instruction. The trial court did not abuse its discretion and properly denied Roussel's request.

Both Roussel and Rebecca testified that Gary attacked Roussel, and that upon being attacked Roussel removed the walking stick from Gary's hands and threw it. Nothing in their testimony supported an inference that Roussel assaulted Gary, but only that to protect himself Roussel removed the weapon that he was being assaulted with from Gary.

Gary's testimony at trial was that Roussel pushed the walking stick across his neck, restricting his ability to breath. This testimony supported both assault in the second degree by strangulation and assault with a deadly weapon. Laura testified that Roussel threatened to "choke Gary out," broke free of her grasp; then, when she attempted to block his path, knocked her to the ground. Due to being knocked to the ground, Laura was temporarily out of commission. RP at 67. Her first observation was of Gary effectively bench pressing the walking stick upward with Roussel on top of him still holding the walking stick across his chest and throat area. RP at 68, 94. Laura's testimony was not to the entirety of the strangulation, but to immediately after Roussel had strangled Gary with the walking stick. This is an important distinction; had Laura testified that she observed the entire event and merely observed an assault by Roussel that did not involve strangulation—this would provide affirmative evidence that an assault not involving strangulation had occurred. Yet no such testimony existed here.

Roussel maintains that Laura's testimony supported the inference that Roussel assaulted Gary by pressing the walking stick down over his chest.³ However, Laura's observation of a portion of an event that had

³ Roussel's brief states Laura's testimony was that Roussel was pressing the stick "over her husband's chest, not his neck." Br. Of Appellant at 11. However, clarification in

already occurred did not tend to prove a lesser crime, but rather was corroborative of the greater crime. Should Roussel's reasoning be carried to its logical conclusion, then a lesser included instruction of assault in the second degree would be warranted on a murder charge, if, after a shooting, a witness testified to seeing the shooter still pointing a gun toward the victim. Further, even if what Laura observed had been an assault that did not involve strangulation, it still would have involved an assault with a deadly weapon. Roussel has not argued that the walking stick failed to qualify as a deadly weapon. In fact, Roussel wrote in his statement that he wanted to press charges against Gary for a "violent assault with a weapon," and he also testified that the walking stick was a deadly weapon. RP 178, 298-99. Therefore, no affirmative evidence supported an inference that an assault in the fourth degree had occurred instead of the charged offense of assault in the second degree.

Roussel maintains that there was affirmative evidence showing Roussel committed an assault without using the walking stick. Roussel argues that his testimony to "squaring off" prior to wrestling the stick away from Gary and throwing it, coupled with testimony from Gary that Roussel knocked Gary to the ground provided evidence of an inference

Laura's testimony indicates that the walking stick was above the chest and throat area. RP 94.

that he attacked Gary without using the walking stick. However, “squaring off” would be an indication that Roussel faced Gary, nothing more. And if all Roussel did was remove the walking stick from Gary after Gary assaulted him with it, this would not constitute an assault. In addition, Gary never testified to exactly how he ended up on the ground, but simply that he ended up on the ground with the walking stick being pressed against his throat. RP at 110. Roussel testified that Gary fell on his own, that after he fell Gary struck Roussel in the knee, and then Roussel grabbed the walking stick. RP at 273. Thus, there was no evidence that any assault occurred that did not involve the deadly weapon. Additionally, even if Roussel knocked Gary down in the course of obtaining the walking stick to assault him with it, this was *res gestae* of the assault with the deadly weapon and did not support the giving of an instruction for a lesser assault.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in applying the factual prong of the *Workman* rule to the facts presented at the trial. The trial court was best positioned to evaluate the intricacies of the facts presented at trial. After making this evaluation, the trial court found that no affirmative evidence had been presented that would support a lesser offense having been committed to the exclusion of the charged offense. As

there was no such evidence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in reaching this conclusion.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by failing to admit allegations of the victim molesting a child in an unrelated case over fifteen years prior.

Roussel argues the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Roussel's attempt to admit evidence that the victim had been accused by his daughter, Roussel's wife, of molesting her as a child. The trial court properly excluded this irrelevant evidence and did not abuse its discretion in so doing.

This Court reviews decisions to admit evidence under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Demery*, 144 Wash.2d 753, 758, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). The trial court is given considerable discretion to determine if evidence is admissible. *Id.* "Where reasonable persons could take differing views regarding the propriety of the trial court's actions, the trial court has not abused its discretion." *Id.* However, the trial court has abused its discretion on an evidentiary ruling if it is contrary to law. *State v. Neal*, 144 Wash.2d 600, 609, 30 P.3d 1255 (1996). "An abuse of discretion exists '[w]hen a trial court's exercise of its discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons.'" *Id.* (alteration in original) (quoting *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wash.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)). Here, the trial court properly applied the law, considered the

arguments of the parties and came to a reasoned and reasonable decision.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Although a defendant has “the constitutional right to present a defense, the scope of that right does not extend to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence.” *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 363, 229 P.3d 669 (2010) (citing *State v. Otis*, 151 Wn.App. 572, 578, 213 P.3d 613 (2009)). There is no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) (citing *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 786 n.6, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006)). If the defense seeks to present relevant evidence, “the burden is on the State to show that the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)). “The exercise of discretion in balancing the danger of prejudice against the probative value of evidence is also a matter within the trial court’s discretion, and should be overturned only if no reasonable person could take the view adopted by the trial court.” *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 18, 659 P.2d 514 (1983) (citing *State v. Kalamarski*, 27 Wn.App. 787, 789, 620 P.2d 1017 (1980) and *State v. Blum*, 17 Wn.App. 37, 56, 561 P.2d 226 (1977))). A danger for unfair prejudice exists when evidence is more likely to stimulate an emotional response from the jury,

rather than a rational decision. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 264, 893 P.2d 615 (1995).

At trial, the State moved to exclude reference to allegations by Rebecca Roussel that her father, the victim, had molested her, because such allegations were irrelevant under ER 401. Roussel's offer of proof showed that Rebecca had been making this claim for 15 years, there were text messages sent after the incident and that she threatened to exaggerate the claim. RP 23-34. Roussel also showed that a month prior to the incident the victim and his wife bought Rebecca a trailer to stop making these allegations. RP 24. Roussel argued to the trial court that these claims motivated the victim to assault Rebecca. RP 25. The trial court questioned the relevancy of the child molestation to whether or not the assault occurred, but determined that even if such evidence were relevant, its prejudicial impact outweighed any probative value. RP 27. The trial court did not prevent Roussel from presenting evidence that Rebecca threatened her father or extorted him to support Roussel's claim that the victim had a motive to assault Rebecca, however Roussel chose not to elicit this evidence as part of the defense. RP 30. Had the defense chosen, they could have admitted evidence of the extortion or threats without specifically stating that the nature of the threats was for a claim of child molestation. This would have provided Roussel with evidence from which he could

have argued Gary had a motive to assault Rebecca. Thus, it is clear, the probative value of these claims was low.

The trial court based its decision on sound reasoning and the law. This was not an abuse of discretion. It was reasonable for the court to question the relevancy of the accusations. Furthermore, the unfair prejudice that would have resulted carried an extreme risk of the jury improperly considering such evidence. Allegations of child molestation create potential that a jury may improperly consider such evidence and would have judged the victim based on his character. *Cf., State v. Baker*, 89 Wn.App. 726, 736, 950 P.2d 486 (1998) (stating there is a likelihood the jury will convict based on character when it hears about prior similar acts of child molestation). The trial court here found an undue risk of prejudice if the jury heard that Rebecca had accused the victim of molesting her. This finding was warranted and appropriate and based on the proper balancing test the court was required to perform. The trial court made a sound decision that was legally appropriate and did not abuse its discretion or deny the defendant the right to present his defense. Roussel's claim fails.

III. Roussel is prohibited from raising a privacy act violation for the first time on appeal.

Roussel alleges violation of his rights under the Privacy Act for the first time on appeal. At trial, Roussel did not raise objection under the Privacy Act to the testimony of the contents of a telephone call Sgt. Huffine testified to. This means the record below was insufficiently developed for the State to adequately respond to an actual allegation of a Privacy Right violation.

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